# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/19/2023 11:56 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101646-8

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 56095-0-II

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK S. LANGHORST,

Petitioners,

v.

## WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alden Byrd, WSBA No. 46128 Una Legin, WSBA No. 58962 Attorneys for Petitioner, Mark Langhorst

Washington Law Center 651 Strander Blvd. Bldg. B, Suite 215 Tukwila, WA 98188 Ph: (206) 596-7888

Fax: (206) 457-4900

alden@washingtonlawcenter.com

####

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Mark Langhorst asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued a published decision in Cause No. 56095-0-II ("Opinion") on December 20, 2022. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-9.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether a reopening application is deemed reopened pursuant to RCW 51.32.160 and 51.52.060 when the Department of Labor and Industries fails to issue a final denial order until 255 days after his reopening application was filed.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying facts of this claim are not in dispute. On May 31, 2012, the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") issued an order allowing Mr. Langhorst's claim for an industrial injury, which occurred on January 26, 2012. CP at 39. Mr. Langhorst's claim was subsequently closed on November 4, 2014. CP at 40. Mr. Langhorst filed a completed application to reopen his claim on April 9, 2019, with the assistance of Dr. Manuel Pinto. CP at 42-43. On June 13, 2019, the Department issued an order denying the reopening application. CP at 44. That same day, Mr. Langhorst protested the Department order rejecting his reopening application. CP at 45.

On June 27, 2019, in response to Mr. Langhorst's protest, the Department issued another order holding its June 13, 2019 order in abeyance. CP at 46. On September 30, 2019, the Department sent a letter to Mr. Langhorst informing him it was scheduling an independent medical examination to address his

reopening application. CP at 48. The Department then issued a final order affirming the reopening denial on December 19, 2019. CP at 47. 255 days elapsed between the Department's receipt of Mr. Langhorst's reopening application and the ultimate denial of his application.

Following unfavorable findings at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board") and Thurston County Superior Court, Mr. Langhorst timely filed an appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division Two. On December 20, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its decision, refusing to consider Petitioner's arguments because it incorrectly read the "plain meaning" of the statute at issue without considering the larger statutory scheme and the interplay between RCW 51.52.060 and RCW 51.32.160. *See* Appendix, at A-1.Petitioner Mark Langhorst now asks this Court to grant review.

/

#### E. ARGUMENT

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the Opinion because this case presents significant questions of law and involves issues of substantial public interest that the highest court of this state should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Here, the issue at hand involves substantial public interest in injured workers right to a speedy adjudication of aggravation applications, and the overarching purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act to reduce "to a minimum the suffering and economic loss" for injured workers. RCW 51.12.010. Determination of the Department's authority and injured workers' rights will provide useful guidance to Department workers, the Washington State Attorney General's office, and Industrial Appeals Judges at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. Department delays in making a final determination on reopening applications is, unfortunately, inevitably going to recur. As such, the Supreme Court should accept this petition for

review because it involves a matter of substantial public interest in limiting the Department's ability to delay adjudicating these applications.

#### 1. Protecting injured workers' rights and upholding the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act are issues of substantial public importance.

The fundamental, statutorily-prescribed purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act is to "reduce to a minimum the suffering" of injured workers. RCW 51.12.010. The Act is remedial and "should be liberally construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Simpson Timber Co. v. Wentworth, 96 Wn. App. 731, 735-36, 981 P.2d 878 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999). The goal of liberal construction is to ensure "swift and certain relief" for injured workers. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri, 117 Wn.2d 128, 139, 814 P.2d 629, 634 (1991). In upholding this purpose the legislature provided a strict deadline for the Department to adjudicate a reopening application or the application is deemed granted. In this case, the Department delayed adjudicating Mr. Langhorst's reopening application more than 250 days, and the Court of Appeals' decision left Mr. Langhorst without the statutorily prescribed remedy for such delay. This outcome is likely to recur and to affect future similarly situated workers in the future.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in interpreting RCW 51.52.060 and RCW 51.32.160 contrary to express legislative intent.

When an individual has a worker's compensation claim that was accepted and subsequently closed, the worker has a right to submit a reopening application if their work injury has worsened. In response to the application, the Department must then issue either an acceptance or denial order. RCW 51.32.160. When a departmental order is issued, a worker - or other enumerated party - may protest the order within 60 days of receipt. RCW 51.52.050. The Department also has the ability to reconsider on its own motion. RCW 51.52.060.

In 1988, the Washington State legislature amended RCW 51.32.160 to address aggravation (otherwise known as reopening) applications that were not timely adjudicated by the

Department. The added language provided that if the Department did not issue a final order denying an application within 90 days of receipt (plus an additional 60 days for good cause), the reopening application would be deemed granted. To circumvent this deadline and remedy, the Department would deny a reopening application with no valid underlying basis, and then reconsider the order on its own motion. *See In re Clyde McCoy*, BIIA Dec., 91 0701 (1991). The handling of a reopening application in this manner made its way before this Court in *Tollycraft Yachts Corp. v. McElroy*. 122 Wn.2d 426, 868 P.2d 503 (1993).

In *Tollycraft*, the Court addressed the interplay of two statutes: RCW 51.32.160 and 51.52.060. As stated, RCW 51.32.160 provided the deadline of up to 150 days to issue a final order on a reopening application or it would be deemed granted. RCW 51.52.060 provides the Department with "authority to reverse or modify its own decisions for a period of up to 180 days." *Tollycraft*, 122 Wn. 2d at 434.

Ultimately, the *Tollycraft* Court held that "once the Department issues an order denying an application to re-open, the requirements of RCW 51.32.160 are satisfied and only the deadlines contained within RCW 51.52.060 [of having 180 days to modify its decisions] constrain the Department's authority to reconsider its decision to deny the application." *Id.* at 439. If this was the state of the law today, Mr. Langhorst's reopening application would not be deemed granted.

However, in response to the *Tollycraft* decision, the legislature amended RCW 51.52.060 in 1995 to include the following language:

4)The department, either within the time limited for appeal, or within thirty days after receiving a notice of appeal, may: (a) Modify, reverse, or change an order, decision, or award; or . . . (ii) Hold an order, decision, or award issued under RCW 51.32.160 in abeyance for a period not to exceed ninety days from the date of receipt of an application under RCW 51.32.160. The department may extend the ninety-day time period for an additional sixty days for good cause.

amendment). This explicitly duplicated language from RCW 51.32.160 into RCW 51.52.060 is evidence enough in showing that the Department must act on a reopening application within 150 days maximum, regardless of whether or not a party invokes the Department's reconsideration authority. The remedy, though only written in RCW 51.32.160, also applies whether a decision was reconsidered or not. The specific reference to orders under RCW 51.32.160 was not included idly, and the two statutes must be read together. *Employco Personnel Services, Inc. v. The City of Seattle*, 117 Wn.2d 606, 615, 817 P.2d 1372 (1991).

Beyond the language itself, the testimony in support of the Senate Bill clarifies that "[i]t was not the Legislature's intent to allow over 300 days to consider these matters, as is now the reality." CP at 50. Despite this clear statement of legislative intent, the Court of Appeals refused to consider how the statutes were intended to be read together and upheld the decision to deny

Mr. Langhorst's reopening application where he did not receive a final order until 255 days after his application.

This Court has not addressed the interplay of RCW 51.32.160 and 51.52.060 since its decision in *Tollycraft*, nor has it had the opportunity to address the effect of the 1995 amendment to RCW 51.52.060. Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' approach undermines the purpose of the legislative scheme addressing reopening applications, and the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act as a whole.

B. Timely decisions aiding in quicker treatment and return to work are beneficial for all parties involved in worker's compensation claims.

Ensuring that the Industrial Insurance Act is liberally construed and that injured workers receive an adequate remedy are issues of substantial public interest. Accessing proper treatment to return our injured workers back to a healthy state where they can continue their work contributions should be a goal that everyone stands behind.

Mr. Langhorst had to wait 255 days -about eight and a half months – to get a final decision on his reopening application. In many cases, private insurance will not provide coverage if there is a chance that the injury is tied to a work injury. Rather than being able to address the injury in a timelier manner, the waiting process without treatment can result in worsened health and long absences from work due to pain. Had the Department acted within the time frame required by the statute – even if after investigation into the matter it ultimately found that Mr. Langhorst's condition was not the result of a worsening work injury – Mr. Langhorst would have had a definitive answer and the potential opportunity to look for other means to begin treatment at least a hundred days sooner.

Instead, the Department denied Mr. Langhorst's medically supported and facially sufficient application two months after it was filed with no additional information or investigation to support its position. After putting the denial in abeyance in response to Mr. Langhorst's protest, the Department took nearly

four months to schedule an independent medical examination to address the application. CP at 48.

If the Department has difficulty meeting its statutorily prescribed deadlines due to a shortage of claims managers or medical examiners, that is an agency issue that needs to be addressed internally. It is not a valid reason to circumvent its legal obligations and force injured worker's to deal with its shortcomings. This Court should grant review so as to properly delineate the responsibility the Department carries in timely addressing reopening applications.

# 2. An authoritative determination on this matter would provide future guidance to numerous public officers.

The need to clarify the meaning of the Industrial Insurance Act is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest that presents an opportunity to guide the Department of Labor and Industries and its agents in similar, if not identical, issues that are likely to reoccur. *See, e.g., Dunner v. McLaughlin*, 100 Wash.2d 832, 838, 676 P.2d 444 (1984) (law surrounding adult civil

a matter of continuing and substantial public interest). Here, an authoritative determination is needed to enforce the legislature's intent to provide both a substantive right to a speedily adjudicated reopening application, and a remedy for violation of that right, consistent with the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly stated that the plain meaning of RCW 51.52.060 is clear and there is no need to go beyond it. There are two faults in that statement. First, there have been various approaches to the interpretation and application of RCW 51.52.060 and RCW 51.32.160 by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, neatly demonstrating that the statutes are ambiguous. The Department agrees on this point. *See* RB 16 ("The Board has had inconsistent rulings on [the interplay between RCW 51.52.060 and RCW 51.32.160.]").

Secondly, the court must discern plain meaning from the "text of the statutory provision in question, *as well as* the context

of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Larson*, 184 Wn.2d 843, 365 P.3d 740 (2015) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added). Had the Court of Appeals considered all relevant aspects, it would have found that the "deemed granted" provision of RCW 51.32.160 is incorporated into RCW 51.52.060.

A reopening application that is delayed by Department reconsideration beyond the 150 day deadline imposed by the Legislature is likely to recur repeatedly, and the Court of Appeals' decision permits the Department to engage in such delays without fear of the statutorily imposed remedy. An authoritative determination limiting the Department's ability to delay adjudication of reopening applications through its reconsideration authority will inure to the benefit of all injured workers by securing their right to speedy adjudication of their applications.

# 3. The issues presented today are highly likely to recur.

Despite the goal of the Act being to reduce suffering to a minimum, many workers are and do suffer at the hands of the system. "[T]he guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). The Supreme Court has long held that the purpose of the Act is to protect injured workers, and that the process be approachable and navigable by workers on their own, without the necessity of retaining an attorney. See Nelson v. Dept. of Labor *Industries*, 9 Wn.2d 621, 629, 115 P.2d 1014 (Wash. 1941).

It is certainly not the first time that the convoluted procedural rules of the Department, not made easily digestible by the Industrial Insurance Act, are utilized by the Department so as to block an injured worker's benefits. An injured worker should

not be held responsible for the Department's delays and slow moving process.

While the Department may state that bureaucratic delays are the norm and not a valid issue of public interest to bring before the Court, that does not mean that statutorily required deadlines may be ignored where enacted. Certain aspects of the Department's decision-making process may indeed be free of any time frames, but the Legislature recognized which circumstances may require more timeliness and enacted statutes accordingly. See RCW 51.52.090 (an appeal shall be deemed granted if not denied within thirty days after notice is filed with the board), RCW 51.52.106 (a petition for review shall be deemed granted if not denied within twenty days after filing) and RCW 51.32.095 (if the department takes no action within fifteen days of a worker-approved vocational plan developed with a vocational professional, it is deemed approved). Similarly, reopening applications were found to require stricter guidelines and a deemed granted provision. As currently construed, requests

for reconsideration essentially circumvent the legislatively enacted deadline, and the express limitation on reconsideration provided by RCW 51.52.060(4)(b). The plain language of RCW 51.52.060(4)(b) does not establish a limitation on the Department's authority with no remedy; RCW 51.32.160 is explicitly referenced and the remedies within it continue to apply.

The Act is meant to be liberally construed in favor of the injured worker, and to prevent workers from continuously being punished for the Department's actions. This Court should grant review and find that Mr. Langhorst's reopening application was deemed granted when the Department failed to act within its statutorily prescribed time frame.

#### F. CONCLUSION

The last time that this Court considered the law in question was 30 years ago. In response to the Court's decision in *Tollycraft*, the Legislature amended RCW 51.52.060 and made

abundantly clear that the deemed granted provisions of RCW 51.32.160 limits the Department's reconsideration authority under RCW 51.52.060. Despite this conspicuous legislative directive to prevent adjudicatory delay and the understanding that the Act must be liberally construed in favor of an injured worker, the Court of Appeals proceeded to incorrectly find that Mr. Langhorst's argument was barred by the plain language of RCW 51.52.060. To ensure adherence with the law as written and protect workers in a way that is beneficial for all parties involved in worker's compensation claims, this Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals decision and find that Mr. Langhorst's reopening application was deemed granted when the Department exceeded its 150 day limit on issuing a final decision.

This document contains 2796 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.