FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2023 10:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101646-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK S. LANGHORST,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Senior Counsel WSBA No. 29737 Office Id. No. 91022 Labor and Industries Division P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA

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

IV. ARGUMENT

No issue of substantial public interest is presented by this case as the Court of Appeals' decision tracks with the plain language of the relevant statutes, while Langhorst's proposed interpretation adds words to the statute that the Legislature did not include. Langhorst therefore fails to show an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and Langhorst does not claim—nor could he plausibly claim—that any of the other bases for review under RAP 13.4(b) apply.

RCW 51.32.160 provides that an application is "deemed granted" if the Department fails to issue an order within 90 days of receiving a reopening application (or 150 days if the Department extends its time to act). RCW 51.32.160 does not provide for an application being deemed granted in any other situation. Since the Department issued an order denying the application to reopen Langhorst's claim 65 days after receiving the application, the application is not deemed granted.

Contrary to Langhorst's argument, RCW 51.52.060(4) does not create a "deemed granted" requirement.¹ Even if RCW 51.52.060(4) applies, it limits the Department's timeframe to act, but does not provide for a deemed granted outcome if that timeframe is exceeded.

A. The Industrial Insurance Act Is Unambiguous: Only RCW 51.32.160 Finds an Application Deemed Granted, and It Does Not Apply Here

Because the Department complied with RCW 51.32.160, and because no other statute contains a deemed granted provision, Langhorst's application is not deemed granted as a matter of law.

¹ The Court of Appeals assumed for argument's sake that RCW 51.52.060 applied. It does not for two reasons. First, there was a request for reconsideration here, which triggers RCW 51.52.050, the reconsideration by the Department statute, not RCW 51.52.060, the appeal to the Board statute. Second and relatedly, RCW 51.52.060(4) governs the Department's timeframe to reassume a decision regarding a reopening application following an appeal to the Board or the Department taking further action on its own volition, not the Department's ability to take action when a party asks the Department to reconsider its decision, as Langhorst did.

1. Langhorst's reopening application cannot be deemed granted because the Department issued an order denying Langhorst's application within 90 days

This case is resolved on the plain language of RCW 51.32.160, RCW 51.52.050, and RCW 51.52.060.² The Department met its statutory obligation under RCW 51.32.160 by issuing an order denying Langhorst's application within 90 days. No other provision of the Industrial Insurance Act finds

² Because this case is resolved on the plain language of the statutes there is no need to consider the legislative history and its interaction with *Tollycraft Yachts Corp. v. McCoy*, 122 Wn.2d 426, 858 P.2d 503 (1993). In any event, *Tollycraft* supports the Department's position because in that case the Court concluded that the aggravation application was not deemed granted because the Department issued an order denying the aggravation application within the statutory deadline set out in RCW 51.32.160. Nor do Board decisions show ambiguity. Langhorst misrepresents the Board's decisions and ignores that the Board has consistently rejected the conclusion that an aggravation becomes "deemed granted" if the Department's decision in response to a reopening request exceeds the time limitations in RCW 51.52.060. In re Joseph Brown, No. 96 4577, 1996 WL 33410739 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Aug. 20, 1996); In re Elois Short, No. 95 4522, 1996 WL 879374 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Dec. 20, 1996). No Board decision supports Langhorst's proposed interpretation of the statute.

an application for reopening deemed granted besides RCW 51.32.160(1)(d), which provides:

If an order denying an application to reopen filed on or after July 1, 1988, is not issued within ninety days of receipt of such application by the self-insured employer or the department, such application shall be deemed granted. However, for good cause, the department may extend the time for making the final determination on the application for an additional sixty days.

Under RCW 51.32.160, the Department must issue "an order denying an application to reopen . . . within ninety days of receipt of such application." RCW 51.32.160(1)(d). The Department may extend this deadline by 60 days for good cause. *Id.* This statute applies to "receipt of [the reopening] application." *Id.* By its very terms it does not apply to receipt of a "reconsideration" request. RCW 51.32.160 does not purport to put any limit on the Department's ability to reconsider one of its decisions when a party asks it to reconsider its decision, as Langhorst did.

Here, the Department received Langhorst's application to reopen his claim on April 9, 2019. AR 128. On June 13, 2019, 65 days later, the Department issued an order denying the reopening application. AR 79. Thus, the Department complied with RCW 51.32.160 and the application is not "deemed granted."

2. When it applies, RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii) does not make an application to reopen a claim "deemed granted"

No statute aside from RCW 51.32.160 has a deemed granted provision. Langhorst requested reconsideration of a Department order under RCW 51.52.050, which provides:

Whenever the department has taken any action or made any decision relating to any phase of the administration of this title the worker, beneficiary, employer, or other person aggrieved thereby may request reconsideration of the department, or may appeal to the board. In an appeal before the board, the appellant shall have the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such appeal.

RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). This statute does not impose a deemed granted requirement if there is a request for reconsideration involving a reopening application.

Likewise, the plain language of the statute Langhorst relies on, RCW 51.52.060, does not have a deemed granted provision.

(4) The department, either within the time limited for appeal, or within thirty days after receiving a notice of appeal, may:

. . .

(ii) Hold an order, decision, or award issued under RCW 51.32.160 in abeyance for a period not to exceed ninety days from the date of receipt of an application under RCW 51.32.160. The department may extend the ninety-day time period for an additional sixty days for good cause.

Langhorst is incorrect that RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii) applies, but even if RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii) did apply in his situation, it contains no deemed granted provision.

On the contrary, RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii) sets the timeframe for how long the Department can wait before taking further action on an appeal regarding an application to reopen a

claim, but does not contain any language that a claim becomes "deemed granted" if that timeframe is exceeded. By providing a deemed granted provision solely in RCW 51.32.160, and not including one in RCW 51.52.050 or RCW 51.52.060, the Legislature has indicated that there is no deemed granted provision in the latter statutes. To express one thing in a law implies the exclusion of the other, and courts do not add words to statutes. See State v. Kelley, 168 Wn.2d 72, 83, 226 P.3d 773 (2010) (noting that the "exclusion is presumed to be deliberate"); City of Seattle v. Fuller, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269, 300 P.3d 340 (2013). The Legislature could have included a deemed granted provision in the reconsideration or appeal statutes but it chose not to. See RCW 51.52.050, .060.3 So even when

³ This does not mean workers have no remedy if they believe the Department has failed to diligently address a request for reconsideration with regard to a reopening application. The remedy they can seek is a writ of mandamus compelling the Department to promptly act on the request. *See Dils v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 51 Wn. App. 216, 220, 752 P.2d 1357 (1988) (recognizing right of workers to seek writ of mandamus if Department fails to act on workers' claims with adequate

RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii) applies, an application does not become "deemed granted" if the Department takes action outside the timeframe set out in the statute.

Nor is Langhorst correct that the amendments the Legislature made to RCW 51.52.060 after the *Tollycraft* case caused his application to become deemed granted. Pet. at 8–9. As noted, RCW 51.52.060(4)(b)(ii)—in its current form—does not provide for an application becoming deemed granted. If the Legislature intended for its amendments to overrule *Tollycraft* and provide for a deemed granted remedy in a case of this kind, it would have done so through those amendments. It did not, and this Court should reject Langhorst's attempt at rewriting the statute.

B. The Legislature Intended for Workers To Have Access To Reconsideration on the One Hand, and on

promptness). A writ of mandamus can be used to compel a public officer to engage in an action they have a duty to perform. *Butts v. Constantine*, 198 Wn.2d 27, 45, 491 P.3d 132 (2021).

the Other Hand Did Not Intend a Reopening Application To Be Automatically Granted

1. Langhorst's construction hurts workers

Apart from the fact that it is not supported by the plain language of the relevant statutes, Langhorst's argument would hurt workers as the Department would be forced to issue orders denying workers' requests for reconsideration. Workers are held to "strict proof of their right to receive the benefits provided by the act." Cyr v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 47 Wn.2d 92, 97, 286 P.2d 1038 (1955) (quoting Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 34 Wn.2d 498, 505, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949)); see also Robinson v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 181 Wn. App. 415, 427, 326 P.3d 744 (2014). And a worker cannot prevail in having a reopening application granted without a medical opinion. See Phillips v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 49 Wn.2d 195, 197, 298 P.2d 1117 (1956); Eastwood v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 152 Wn. App. 652, 661, 219 P.3d 711 (2009). If a worker does not have time to present additional evidence⁴ or if the Department does not have time to seek a medical opinion, the Department will have to deny the request for reconsideration because it is the worker's burden to show entitlement to benefits. At that point, the worker would be forced to litigate at the Board, where the worker would also bear the burden of proof. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). So Langhorst's theory may help him, but it will hurt other workers.

2. It makes no sense that a request for reconsideration received after 150 days (with the timing driven by the worker) would automatically be granted; the Legislature intended the Department to adjudicate requests for reconsideration

Whether a request for reconsideration is granted should not hinge on when the worker chooses to file the request.

Langhorst's proposed interpretation of RCW 51.32.160 contradicts the Legislature's intent that the Department

⁴ Notably, when Langhorst asked the Department to reconsider its decision regarding the reopening request, he asked for time to acquire an additional medical opinion supporting his request to reopen the claim. AR 77, 80.

adjudicate reconsideration requests, as it would not leave the Department with adequate time to do so. RCW 51.52.050. Under Langhorst's construction of the statutes, if the Department received a reopening application and took 150 days for good cause to deny the request, even a quick protest by a worker or employer would automatically force a deemed granted outcome. See RCW 51.52.050(1) (party has 60 days to request reconsideration). For example, if the Department issued an order denying a reopening request 100 days after it received the request (after granting itself a 60 day extension), and a worker choose to protest this decision 60 days later, the reopening request would be retroactively deemed granted under Langhorst's theory. This is because any order the Department issued at that point would be issued on the 160th day or later, which is more than 150 days after the reopening request was received. And because a request for reconsideration automatically places the original order in abeyance and obligates the Department to reconsider its order as requested,

the Department cannot decline to reconsider a decision regarding an aggravation application if it receives a timely request for reconsideration. *Haugen*, 1991 WL 11008460, at *2. With no time to do so, the Department would effectively have no reconsideration power, contrary to RCW 51.52.050. It would make no sense for the Legislature to grant reconsideration power in RCW 51.52.050 and take it away in RCW 51.52.060. Nor would it make sense to encourage workers to time the filing of a request for reconsideration in order for it to cause an application to become retroactively deemed granted.

The Legislature has showed no intent that the mere action of filing a reconsideration request means that reopening is deemed granted. Indeed, the Legislature's intent in RCW 51.52.050 is for the Department to adjudicate requests for reconsideration—not automatically grant them.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, this Court should deny the petition for review.

This document contains 3,208 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.